
Summons to Meeting

Friday 16 November 2018

Audit Committee
Monday 26 November 2018, 2.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Billy Miskelly

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 24 September 
2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00 pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Business Continuity Update  (Pages 7 - 10)

6. Audit Committee Report Quarter Two 2018/19  (Pages 11 - 56)

Page 1



7. Treasury Management Operations - Mid-year review 2018/19  (Pages 57 - 
82)

8. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update  (Pages 83 - 90)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Monday 11 February 2019, 2.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Audit Committee held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Monday 24 September 2018 at 2.00 pm

Members

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor Billy Miskelly

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Duncan Fairbairn and Councillor 
Marion Fitzgerald

Staff Present

D Bryden, P McAleavey, G Roach, S Sewell and E Thompson

Also Present

R Anderson

187. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 July 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

188. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

189. Questions 

None received.

190. Internal Audit report Quarter One 2018/19 

The Property Manager and the Project Manager attended the meeting to 
provide the Committee with an update on Business Continuity. Members were 
informed that the previous system had been replaced by the ‘Allerdale Borough 
Council Business Continuity Environment’ an in-house development on 
Sharepoint. Each Council department would have their own action plan with a 
list of actions for dealing with an incident. A lead member of staff for each 
service was to be nominated by SMT in due course. Access would be through a 
link on the Councils Intranet. 
Members of the Committee expressed their concerns in the lack of progress 
with the original processes. Members were reassured that Business Continuity 
was being monitored monthly by the Senior Management Team, it was on the 
Corporate Risk Register and it was to be a standard item on team meeting 
agendas to keep its profile high across the services.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



The Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager presented the first quarterly 
Assurance, Risk and Audit report for the financial year 2018/19. The report set 
out the work performed by the Assurance, Risk and Audit Section and 
compared the work undertaken against the approved annual plan.

The chargeable time for the section for quarter one was 80.16%, which was 
above the target of 78.87%.

Members noted the assurance activities for the quarter, which focused on the 
review of Financial Services, Customer Operations, Risk Management and ICT. 
The following reports were submitted and were attached to the report as 
Appendix A:

 Financial Services 17/18
 Customer Operations 17/18

Members noted the following reviews which were in progress at 30 June 2018:

 Community Services
 Risk Management
 ICT

There was a performance measure that 100% of recommendations made by 
Assurance, Risk and Audit were accepted by management, one low graded 
recommendation was not accepted during the quarter.

It was noted that 7 agreed actions due were in progress, 6 of those actions 
were over 60% complete. It was also noted that agreed actions were being 
continually monitored by the Senior Management Team and discussed in detail 
on a monthly basis. All actions outstanding had been updated in quarter one.

Members noted the Corporate Risk and Issues Log.

Agreed

That the contents of the report be noted.

191. Annual Audit Letter 2017/18 

R Anderson, Grant Thornton presented the Audit Committee with the Annual 
Audit Letter. The letter summarised the key findings arising from the work that 
the external auditors had carried out at the Council for the year ended 31 March 
2018.

The following work had been carried out:

Materiality – the auditors determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s 
financial statements to be £966,000, which was 1.75% of the Council’s gross 
revenue expenditure

Financial statement opinion – the auditors gave an unqualified opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements on 31 July 2018

Page 4



Value for money arrangements – the auditors were satisfied that the Council put 
in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources during the year ended 31 March 2018

Certification of grants – the auditors had carried out work to certify the Council’s 
Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and 
Pensions. The work had not yet been completed, but was due to be finalised by 
30 November 2018 and would be reported to the Audit Committee

Certificate – the auditors certified that they had completed the audit of the 
Council’s accounts in accordance with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office Code of Audit Practice.

Agreed

That the contents of the Annual Audit Letter be noted.

192. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update 

R Anderson, Grant Thornton presented an Audit Committee update report to 
inform the Committee of the progress made by the external auditors on 
delivering their responsibilities as at September 2018.

The 2017/18 audit of the Councils financial statements had been completed.

Work had begun on planning processes for the 2018/19 financial year audit.

Members noted the report.

Agreed

That the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 3.05 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 26 November 2018

Allerdale House Business Continuity Plan Update

The Reason for the Decision                     To update the Committee of the actions 
undertaken following previous 
Committee meeting held on 24/09/2018

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That the report is accepted subject to 
any additional information that the 
Committee may require.

Financial /  Resource Implications N/A

Legal / Governance Implications Acceptance of this report has no legal 
implications.

Community Safety Implications Acceptance of this report has no 
Community Safety implications.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Acceptance of this report has no Health 
and Safety implications. Consideration 
should be given to the activities reported 
and how they contribute to the 
organisations Risk Management
Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Acceptance of this report has no 
Equality Duty or Assessment 
implications.

Wards Affected N/A

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Acceptance of the report would 
contribute to the Council’s Business 
Continuity Plan.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder

Lead Officer  Peter McAleavey, Project Manager 
Programme Office, 01900 702955 
peter.mcaleavey@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:peter.mcaleavey@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety Y/N Financial Y/N
Legal Y/N Partnership Y/N
Social Inclusion Y/N Asset Management Y/N
Equality Duty Y/N Health and Safety Y/N
Employment (internal) Y/N Employment 

(external to the Council)
Y/N

Background Papers

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council’s Business Continuity Plan, was discussed at the previous 
meeting of the Audit Committee held on 24/09/2018, a number of concerns 
were raised regarding a) the level of priority Business Continuity was afforded 
within the Council, and b) how the information was disseminated to all 
members of staff. Commitments were given by the lead officer regarding the 
proposed changes to internal processes, and how the information would be 
circulated to staff.
This report is to provide an update on the progress of those commitments.  

2.0 Content 

2.1 In the week prior to the committee meeting agreement was given from the 
Senior Management Team, that the current BCP4me Business Continuity 
application, would be withdrawn from use, and replaced by an internally 
produced Microsoft SharePoint site, this has now been completed.

In response to the concerns raised by the committee, the following actions 
have been introduced/amended:-

1. Standing item on SMT agenda
2. Heads of Service tasked with ensuring that their department’s plans 

are brought up to date, and regularly monitored.
3. Named member(s) of staff from each department identified as being 

responsible for collecting and updating information to the Business 
Continuity site.

4. Regular meetings scheduled with Emergency Planning officer to co-
ordinate responses & requirements.

5. All staff and members have access to the plans from a link on the 
Intranet Homepage (Resources – Corporate - Business Continuity).

6. Standing item on all team meetings agendas.

Page 8



7. Meeting held with Policy & Communications team to formulate 
Business Continuity Policy, due to be submitted for SMT approval prior 
to the end of December 2018.

8. Team meetings to be revisited by lead officer to emphasise the need 
for all members of staff to be aware of the Business Continuity Plan, 
and how it affects their role.
Teams visited to date, Financial Services, Asset Management, Place 
Development & Housing management team, Legal & Licensing, 
Electoral Services, Assurance & Audit, Democratic Services, HR, Food 
Safety & Occupational Health, Environmental Protection. 

3.0 Customer Satisfaction and Service

3.1      N/A

4.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

4.1      N/A 

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1      There are no finance implications arising directly from this report 

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1      Acceptance of this report has no legal, health and safety or risk management
 implications other than the consideration of the Corporate Risks and Issues

Log by the Committee in terms of oversight of the effectiveness of Risk
Management Framework.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1      That the report is accepted subject to any additional information that the
committee may require.

Peter McAleavey
Project Manager, Programme Office

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee Meeting 26 November 2018

Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 30 September 2018

The Reason for the Decision To inform the Committee of the work performed 
by the Assurance, Risk and Audit Team in the 
first quarter of the financial year 2018/19.

Summary of options considered N/A 

Recommendations 1. That the report is accepted subject to any 
additional information that the committee may 
require.
2. That the revised plan is accepted.

Financial / Resource Implications As outlined in the report

Legal Implications Acceptance of this report has no legal 
implications.

Community Safety Implications Acceptance of this report has no community 
safety implications.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Acceptance of this report has no Health and 
Safety implications. Consideration should be 
given to the activities reported and how they 
contribute to the organisations Risk Management 
Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Equality is considered during the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit activities.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Acceptance of the Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Team’s work provides a direct and indirect 
contribution to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities, in accordance with the Assurance, Risk 
and Audit Service Plan.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis
(email: joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk)

Lead Officer Emma Thompson, Assurance, Risk and Audit 
Manager. 01900 702988
emma.thompson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers: Assurance, Risk and Audit reports and working papers.

1 Introduction

1.1 This is the second progress report for the financial year 2018/19.

1.2 Items covered in this report are as follows:

 Performance against the 2018/19 plan and revised plan
 Assurance and consultancy activities during the quarter
 Fraud work
  Assurance, Risk and Audit activity performance, 
 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program
 Agreed Action follow up, and
 Training and staffing.

2 Performance against the 2018/19 Audit Plan

2.1 Time Summary 

Activity Planned 
Days

Actual 
Days

Statutory Assurance Reviews 69 1.18
Assurance and Risk Support 15 3.85
Follow up and performance 15 14.97
Completion of 2017/18 reviews 35 47.64
Assurance Reviews 90 22.16
Democratic Representation 32 10.54
Corporate Support 135.5 65.30
Projects 25 13.04
Peer Review 5 5.74
Advice 10 1.55
Investigations 10 2.70
Fraud Activities 9 2.70
Risk Management Facilitation 10 3.51
Contingency 6 0
Total Audit Time 466.50 194.88
HR Management 40 38.21
Total Chargeable time 506.50 233.09
Non-Chargeable

Page 12



Non chargeable time 45 23.55
Training 30 27.87
Sickness / other absences 10 9.76

Total Non-Chargeable Time 85 61.18

Total Days 591.50 295.08
Annual Leave 99.5 56.93

Total Days 691 352.01

2.2 The chargeable time performance for quarter two is 76% (total audit time/total 
days less HR time) this is slightly below the planned target of 78.87%.

2.3   The revised 2018/19 plan is attached as appendix 1 to this report, due to the 
reduction in resource resulting from the ARA Assistant being deployed to 
Housing Options on a 12 month secondment and the additional 6 month 
temporary management responsibilities the ARA Manager has assumed for 
Environmental Protection the number of available days has reduced from 466.5 
to 413 days.

2.4 Due to the reduction in days the following assurance reviews will not be        
completed in 18/19

 Health and Safety
 Procurement
 AONB 
 Job Evaluation

2.5    Assurance over the management of risks relating to Contract Management and 
Corporate Credit Cards will now be included as part of the Risk Management and 
Financial Services Reviews respectively.

2.6    Additional external audit support will be supplied by Mersey Internal Audit 
Agency for ICT assurance and the Governance Support Assistants will be 
providing additional administration support. With this approach if planned work is 
completed, there will be no impact on the ability to provide an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance at 
Allerdale Borough Council for 2018/19.

3         Assurance and Consultancy Activities

3.1 The assurance activities for this quarter focused on the review of Community 
Services, Risk Management and ICT. The ARA Manager has also provided 
specific advice and guidance in relation to risk management at the Lakesman 
Event.

3.2     The following reports were submitted this quarter and can be found in appendix 2 
to this report:
 Risk Management 17/18
 ICT 17/18

Page 13



A confidential report is also attached as a restricted item appendix 3, this item is 
restricted due to the content relating to the safety of Officers. Responsible 
officers will be attending the meeting to provide an overview of progress.

3.3 The ARA Manager is a member of the Transformation and Procurement Board to 
provide advice and guidance on risk management, control and governance. The 
Board receives and considers transformation Project Outline Documents for 
approval, from this it considers the key deliverables of the project and how these 
contribute to the design principles for the transformational agenda at Allerdale. 

3.4 The ARA Officer has provided independent assurance and advice for a key 
corporate project;

 Waste Contract Tender – Moderation of the evaluation process used to 
award a contract to a supplier to deliver the Councils statutory obligations 
for waste collections and ground maintenance.

3.5 Risk management facilitation is a vital role of the Assurance Risk and Audit 
Service, during this quarter we have supported the organisation by:

 Facilitating a risk management workshop for the Senior Management 
Team and third Tier Managers – this focused on procurement risk.

 Facilitating a risk management workshop to support the Sports 
Development Steering Group for the Stadium project.

4 Corporate Fraud

4.1      Preparation for the 2018/19 National Fraud Initiative Data Matching exercise has 
begun, the ARA Manager has liaised with all responsible officers across the 
council to ensure everyone is aware of what is expected and the time table for 
action. Drop in sessions were well attended and the timetable is on track.

4.2 The Corporate Fraud Group continues to meet and discuss any opportunities to 
improve internal policy and process to contribute to the zero tolerance approach 
to fraud at Allerdale. The ARA Manager now attends the monthly fraud meetings 
with DWP to gain further insight into the working arrangements for housing 
benefit fraud referrals from Allerdale to DWP. 

4.3      An attempted fraud was identified and prevented by the Financial Services and 
Property team relating to falsification of insurance documents for a boat moored 
in Harrington Marina. This boat has been removed and the relevant insurance 
company have been informed who will investigate the matter further. Thanks to 
the team for their vigilance.

5     Progress with the Annual Plan

5.1    The following reviews were in progress at 30 September 2018:

Audit Title Status 
Governance Testing in progress
Housing and Health Testing in progress
Financial Services Planning

Page 14



ICT (External) Planning

5.2 Management’s acceptance of recommendations - 100%

Assurance, Risk and Audit is designed to add value and assist management in 
achieving the organisations overall key aims and objectives. An indicator for ARA 
performance is that 100% of all recommendations made are accepted by 
management. 

5.3 Management’s implementation of agreed actions (recommendations) up to 
here

For the quarter ending 30 September 2018, 11 actions are overdue, 8 of which 
were in progress. We have also reviewed the process for agreed actions and 
adjusted all dates to fall in line with quarter end reporting which will provide 
efficiencies in Officer follow up time. 

6 Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 
 
6.1 The Survey Monkey questionnaire has been revised and responses for this 

quarter can be found at appendix 4 to this report. We will continue to look at 
ways to increase client feedback responses and overall performance.

6.2 The program will be reviewed following the annual self-assessment which will be 
presented to the next audit committee on 11 February 2019.

7 Corporate Risks and Issues Log

7.1 It was agreed that in the interest of presentation and committee members 
receiving the most up to date information that the latest high level risk report 
would be attached as a link instead of an appendix for your information and 
regular oversight. It was agreed with the Chair that a separate risk workshop will 
be facilitated by the ARA Manager to discuss the risks by council plan priority, 
these will take place every six months. This approach will give members a 
development opportunity and support the management of corporate risks in line 
with their roles and responsibilities, the first workshop is planned for 10 January 
2019.

Corporate Risk Log Hyperlink

7.2 For external stakeholders the corporate risk log is also published as part of the 
performance reporting at Allerdale, the most recent performance report can be 
found at the following link.

performancereport_risks1819

8 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

8.1 Assurance, Risk and Audit operates in support of other Council services.

9 Finance and or Resource Implications

Page 15

http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
http://intra.allerdale.gov.uk/resources/SitePages/Risks.aspx
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/performance/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/performance/


9.1 There are currently no finance or additional resource issues that have not already 
been included in the report.

10 Legal Implications and Risks

10.1 Acceptance of this report has no legal, health and safety or risk management   
implications other than the consideration of the Corporate Risks and Issues Log 
by the Committee in terms of oversight of the effectiveness of Risk Management 
Framework.

11 Recommendations

11.1 1. That the report is accepted subject to any additional information that the 
Committee may require.
2. That the revised plan is accepted.

Emma Thompson
Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager

Page 16



Assurance Risk and Audit Plan 18/19

Revised 30/9/18
Establishment
Full time  (1 post for the full
year) 261
Full time  (1 post for the full
year) 261
0.6FTE(6mth) 0.3 (6mth) 119
ICT Auditor 15
GSA support 20

Total Days 676.00
Less Annual/Statutory 96
Days available 580.00
Less
non chargeable time 40
Training/Exam Leave 35
Sickness 12

Total Non Chargeable
Days 493.00

HR/Env management 80
Chargeable Days 413.00

Use of chargeable days
Statutory Reviews and
Assurance Reviews
Finance 25
Revenues and benefits 20
ICT 16
Car Parking Income 6
Risk Management (PSIAS
standard 2120) contract
management 10
Health and Safety
Work Brought Forward
(17/18 plan) 50
Corporate Support 115
Decision Making support
(delegated decisions, exec,
council) 8

Democratic Representation
& Management (DMO) 19.5
Projects 15
Peer Review 6
Assurance and Risk
support 8
Fraud including NFI and
awareness 9
Advice 5
Follow up 20
Investigations 8
Assurance reviews -
allocated on a risk basis
as per strategy.
Corporate Credit Cards
Procurement
Contract Management
Governance BF 10
AONB
Job Evaluation
Housing and Health BF 15
ethics follow up 3
credit union support 10
GDPR (projects) 5
contingency 6

Page 17



Risk facilitation - risk
management
support/facilitation/
assurance mapping 10
Member training and
support 3

Commercial opportunities,
procurement and
commissioning board
(Advice and assistance)
projects) 5
volunteer days 5.5
Total Chargeable Days 413

chargeable time target % 71.21%

will not be completed in 2018/19

Page 18



Risk Management Audit Review 2017/18 Appendix 2

Introduction

As part of the 2017/18 assurance risk and audit plan, a review has been undertaken of the control activities, policies and 
procedures currently in place regarding risk management at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide 
management with assurance that the system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for improvement to 
add value and improve the achievement of objectives. 

The objective and scope was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 22 February 2018.

Walkthrough testing and results

Area Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Corporate 
risks

There are robust 
arrangements for the 
identification, 
evaluation and 
monitoring of risks and 
opportunities for 
achieving strategic 
objectives

Data integrity; 
Effective/efficient 
processes; Effective 
risk management; 
Accountability; Value 
for money

Comprehensive The Corporate Risks and Issues log is accessed 
via Share-point. Testing confirmed that the review 
of the risk log is a regular agenda item on the 
Senior Management Team meeting and new risks 
are escalated as they emerge. Managers are 
encouraged to take ownership of and review their 
risks regularly adding any new risks as they arise. 
Responsibilities are assigned and mitigating 
actions regularly updated. Risks are linked to 
Council Plan Objectives. Risk management 
workshops take place every six months, these are 
well attended by the top two management tiers. 
Audit Committee risk management training has 
been provided but this should be encouraged for 
all members.

Project and 
Programme 
risks

There are robust 
arrangements for the 
identification, 
evaluation and 
monitoring of risks and 
opportunities for 

Effective/efficient 
processes; Effective 
risk management; 
Transparency and 
accountability; Value 
for money

Substantial Testing and discussions with key staff 
demonstrated that the quality of risk information 
has improved. The information provided to support 
key decision making has also improved in this 
area and there is a demand to improve further. 
The introduction of the Capital Investment 

P
age 19



achieving project 
objectives

Strategy and supporting risk analysis, seeks to 
improve the risk assessment of Capital projects to 
support decision making and prioritisation based 
on a number of risk factors. This process is in its 
infancy and to date only one project has been risk 
assessed in this way however is considered to be 
a positive step for the risk management culture at 
Allerdale. 

Testing established that the quality of risk 
information relating to projects identified with the 
project management software was inconsistent. 

The quality of risk information and roles and 
responsibilities for risk management within 
projects could be improved. This has already been 
identified as an improvement by the business and 
the team. Further training is planned for all senior 
and third tier managers along with a review of the 
project management documentation.

Operational 
risks

There are robust 
arrangements for the 
identification, 
evaluation and 
monitoring of risks to 
and opportunities for 
achieving operational 
objectives.

Effective risk 
management; 
Efficient use of 
resources; Data 
integrity; Financial 
viability; 
Sustainability

Substantial Testing demonstrated a robust framework in place 
for all tiers of management to effectively risk 
manage all aspects of the business. However, 
there is more work to do to ensure that service 
risk management is considered following the 
annual business planning process. The Assurance 
Risk and Audit Manager is facilitating these 
discussions with Heads of Service by meeting with 
them at least annually to discuss risk as part of 
the annual planning process.

Area for improvement

P
age 20



Agreed Action

Number Agreed Action Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due 
date and response

1 As part of the programme of improvement to drive 
a consistent approach to delivering projects by all 
areas of the business. Training and guidance 
which clarify roles and responsibilities for project 
delivery and risk management should be included.

Project Management, Risk 
management, efficiency and 
effectiveness and 
achievement of objectives 

Medium We will improve the 
project management 
guidance and 
information. A project 
risk workshop will 
take place in 
September with 
support from the ARA 
team. Consideration 
of the value of an 
Assurance Board will 
be built into the 
programme 
management 
governance going 
forward.
Commissioning 
Manager 30 Sept 
2018. 

Number Recommendation Associated risks
1 Risk management training should be offered to all 

members annually.
Risk management, decision making

2 Medium and Low Corporate risks and Service 
Risks should be reviewed at least 6 monthly as 
part of the business planning monitoring process. 

Risk Management, achievement of objectives

P
age 21



ICT Audit Review 2017/18

Introduction

As part of the 2017/18 Assurance Risk and Audit Plan, a review has been undertaken of the security controls and procedures in 
place in respect of the ICT Service at Allerdale Borough Council (ABC). The aim of this review is to provide management with 
assurance that the security system is robust and operating as intended and provide recommendations for improvement to add 
value, if appropriate. Areas included: Public Services Network Compliance, security controls, application administration and 
management of risks and assurances.

Assurance Risk and Audit would like to thank all staff involved during the course of the review for their help and assistance.

The objective and scope for the ICT review was defined in the audit brief issued to all relevant staff on 18 May 2018. 

Walkthrough testing and results

Control Objective Control 
Environment

Assurance 
Opinion

Commentary

Network 
Security

The organisations 
networks are 
protected from attack 
and unauthorised 
access and malicious 
content is filtered out.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, Compliance, 
safeguard of assets, 
data integrity

Substantial 
internal control

Limited PSN 
Compliance 

Allerdale’s Network is protected through the 
use of Evaluation Assurance Level (EAL) 4 
certified Firewalls this is an international 
standard, for the evaluation of an assurance 
Level that provides a moderate to high level of 
independently assured security.

ICT security measures were tested on 18-19 
March 2018 when there was unsuccessful 
attempts to hack into the council email 
system. The security measures in place 
worked successfully and all staff were notified 
and provided with advice in a timely manner.

Testing allowed inappropriate content from an 
external email into the network and internet 
security to be easily disabled and therefore 
unauthorised internet content became 
accessible Refer to recommendation 1.

P
age 22



Public Services Network (PSN) compliance 
has not been granted by the Cabinet Office for 
2017/18. 

2018/19 Public Services Network compliance 
will not be as onerous as the PSN will only be 
required for Elections. DWP can use other 
secure communication networks, ICT have 
started the implementation of secure emails. 

The network is independently tested for 
vulnerabilities on an annual basis as part of 
the PSN process, the vulnerability report 
(18.01.2017) showed 235 risks of which 41 
were high priority. The number of remedial 
actions cleared by the ICT team and the 
detailed action plan to progress these actions 
had not been provided by ICT at the time of 
writing this report. Refer to recommendation 
2.

User 
education 
and 
awareness

User security policies 
covering acceptable 
and secure use of 
systems are in place, 
staff training provided, 
and an awareness of 
cyber risks are 
maintain.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, Compliance, 
safeguard of assets, 
data integrity, 
Counter fraud

Substantial Corporate information management policies 
are in place however not easily accessible, 
testing showed that the majority of employees 
asked struggled to locate the policies. A 
central store for all corporate policies would be 
advantageous going forward for the 
organisation and its policy management. 
Refer to recommendation 3.

The quality of user training and awareness on 
system security and ICT policies is 
inconsistent throughout the authority. An 
awareness training session was provided this 
year however was limited to third tier 
managers and heads of service.  An ICT 

P
age 23



newsletter is produced and circulated to all 
employees.

An information governance E-Learning 
module is available, however the ability to 
design and create bespoke modules doesn’t 
exist within the current E-Learning system, 
there is no function to monitor users 
agreements to the policies, however 
compliance to the policies is now written into 
contracts and users have to agree to 
accepting these prior to logging onto the 
network. This process does not provide 
assurance on users understanding of the 
policies and their responsibilities. Refer to 
recommendation 4.

The organisation has a retention policy which 
has recently been updated in accordance with 
GDPR. Office clear out days are organised 
and additional confidential waste disposal is 
on hand, however off site facilities still pose a 
risk in regards to confidential data being 
stored there. Discussions with the Information 
and Records Officer presented the opportunity 
to include corporate scanning information 
within the retention policy in line with the 
corporate digital by default approach.
 

Malware 
Prevention

Policies and 
established anti-
malware defences in 
place across the 
organisation.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, data 
integrity

Substantial The information security policy has information 
relating to malware, however no specific policy 
or user guidance exists. 

The councils ICT estate is protected using a 
Malware solution (Kaspersky) that has policies 
applied to all devices to decide what action to 
take should an issue be found. Given that 

P
age 24



human error is the biggest cause of security 
breaches the introduction of corporate 
guidance for users would help mitigate this 
risk. Refer to recommendation 5.

Clear screen policy and password requirement 
is covered in the Information Security Policy, 
however the length of passwords is not 
specified, plans are in place to develop single 
sign on which would mitigate this risk. 

Different software have different requirements 
and are not all covered by ICT. Refer to 
recommendation 6.

Removable 
media 
controls

Policy to control all 
access to removable 
media. Limit media 
types and use. Scan 
all media for malware 
before importing onto 
the corporate system.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, Compliance, 
safeguard of assets, 
data integrity, counter 
fraud

Substantial Council policy prohibits the use of removable 
media (USB), it states where such devices 
have to be used all materials must be 
encrypted, testing allowed a USB to be used. 

There is no written procedure which states 
that ICT must grant access to media options 
so that they can be scanned for Malware 
however machines should be blocked from 
doing this so that the user has to go to ICT, 
who then would perform the scan. Refer to 
recommendation 7.

Secure 
configuration

Security patches are 
applied and the secure 
configuration of all 
systems is maintained, 
a systems inventory 
exists.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, data 
integrity

Substantial The Council uses Microsoft Intune to manage 
the estate, all pcs, tablets and phones are 
registered within the system and policies, 
patches and software applied. The Solutions 
Architect (Operations) (SAO) has a monthly 
patch day, a compliance exercise is 
completed to ensure all patches are up to date 
across the estate. 

P
age 25



The organisations systems inventory requires 
updating to reflect the current position.

Managing 
user 
privileges

Establish effective 
management 
processes and limit 
the number of 
privileged accounts, 
limit user privileges 
and monitor user 
activity, control access 
to activity and audit 
logs.

Efficient and effective 
delivery, Compliance, 
safeguard of assets, 
data integrity, counter 
fraud

Substantial The three system administrators have 
enhanced privileges to perform particular 
actions within a system that standard users do 
not.

Defined roles and responsibilities for system 
administration are not agreed corporately, 
therefore these are adopted based on external 
system training and self-help rather than being 
based on a level of control agreed by 
management. This practice creates particular 
issues when staff leave and new officers are 
inadequately trained. 

Getting the most from the systems used 
should be a key priority as the organisation 
moves more towards technology based 
processes. Systems without adequate 
management reporting functionality or that 
requires the support of many standalone 
spreadsheets to support simple processes 
should be reviewed to confirm they are fit for 
purpose. Refer to recommendation 8.

Performance 
Management 

Appropriate 
performance 
indicators are in place 
to manage the 
function

Efficient and effective 
delivery, Compliance, 
data integrity

Substantial The organisations KPI data is stored on a 
shared excel spreadsheet, which is updated 
and sent to SMT on a monthly basis. 

Effective processes were in place to monitor 
statutory and non-statutory deadlines and KPI 
performance.

KPI information is available to all via the 
shared area and ICT communicate KPI 

P
age 26



information to staff at 1-2-1’s and team 
meetings.

Agreed Actions 

Number Agreed Actions Associated risks Priority Responsibility, due date 
and response

1 The firewall should be updated regularly 
to prevent unauthorised content being 
accessible and external email content 
filter should be reviewed.

Access to unauthorised sites, 
potential malicious content 
allowed into the network, 
assets and information may 
be compromised, data breach.

Medium Solutions Architect 
(Operations)

23 December 2018

2 The remedial actions detailed on the 
vulnerability report should be completed 
with priority given to the critical and high 
actions that remain outstanding to gain 
Public Services Network compliance. A 
detailed action plan should be created 
and monitored. 

Risk being cut off from the 
network and unable to access 
critical Whitehall services, for 
exchanging details of benefits 
claimants, information may be 
compromised. Reputational 
damage, unable to perform 
services.

High Completed at the time of the 
review.

3 Corporate policies should be:
 centrally stored 
 easily accessible
 accurate
 up to date

Employees and members do 
not know what is expected 
from them as a user of 
Council owned hardware and 
software, policies are not 
regularly read as a refresh, 
user security awareness isn’t 
maximised.

Medium ICT Manager

30 March 2019

4 ICT Security awareness training sessions 
should be provided to all employees. An 
options appraisal should be completed 
prior to the renewal of the E-learning 

Acceptable use and level of 
information security is not 
clearly defined
Assets and information may 

Medium ICT Manager

23 December 2018

P
age 27



system contract to establish it has 
adequate functionality to support learning 
requirements and is fit for purpose. (HR)

be compromised. Cyber 
security and information 
security awareness isn’t 
maximised, data breach.

5 Due to human error being the biggest 
cause of security breaches the authority 
would benefit from corporate guidance 
for users (posters).

Assets and information may 
be compromised. Cyber 
security and information 
security awareness isn’t 
maximised, data breach.

Medium Newsletter with interactive 
features
ICT Change Manager

31 October 2018 

New Intranet – IT Pages
ICT Manager

30 March 2019
6 Procured systems should be configured 

to Council security levels as part of the 
implementation. (ER)

Assets and information may 
be compromised. GDPR 
breach.

Medium Completed at the time of the 
review.

7 The use of media option downloads to 
allow scanning for malware should be 
covered in the relevant policy and all 
machines should be blocked to restrict 
users from doing so.

Assets and information may 
be compromised. GDPR 
breach.

Low Solutions Architect 
(Operations)

30 October 2018

8 An organisation standard should be 
published for application management, to 
include: Roles and responsibilities for 
system and technical administration, 
system security, password and user 
management, reporting, training and data 
input and output. To ensure all systems 
are managed consistently in an effective 
way and delivering to their maximum 
potential.

Applications are inconsistently 
managed
Full system functionality is not 
realised
Data quality is compromised
Roles and responsibilities are 
unclear. Cyber security and 
information management.

Medium Completed at the time of the 
review.

P
age 28



Guide to the audit assurance opinions
Comprehensive There is a sound system of controls designed to 

meet objectives, manage risks and controls are 
consistently applied in all the areas reviewed.

Substantial There is a good system of controls and risks are 
managed. However, there are opportunities for 
improvement in the design or consistency of 
application that will assist in the achievement of 
objectives identified as being at risk in the areas 
reviewed.

Limited Key controls exist to help achieve objectives 
and manage principle risks. However, there are 
opportunities for improvement in the overall 
control environment which would enhance the 
design and application of controls, thereby 
assisting the achievement of objectives 
identified as being at risk in the areas reviewed.

Minimal The absence of basic key controls or the 
inconsistent application of key controls is so 
severe that the audit area is open to abuse or 
error. Risks to objectives are not being 
managed.

Agreed action levels
High There is a control vulnerability that could result in 

failure to achieve corporate objectives, reputational 
damage, lead to material loss, exposure to serious 
fraud or failure to meet legal or statutory requirements. 
This includes material non-compliance with the 
Constitution, Financial Regulations or Council policies 
and procedures. Managers should address high priority 
recommendations urgently to rectify the situation.

Medium The system or procedure lacks adequate control that 
could result in failure to achieve operational objectives, 
non-material loss, or non-compliance with 
departmental operational or financial procedures. This 
would also include minor non-compliance with 
Financial Regulations. Although not fundamental to 
system integrity these risks should be addressed 
promptly as the next priority.

Low To implement this would be good practice to improve 
or enhance the system and the achievement of 
objectives. Several low risks in combination may give 
rise to concern.  

In line with the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS), 
Assurance, Risk and Audit will monitor all current and future agreed 
actions. Actions will be recorded in the actions log on Sharepoint 
including all progress updates whether made by assigned officers 
directly or by Assurance, Risk and Audit on their behalf. Managers 
with Network system access have the opportunity to monitor these 
actions. Implementation dates are agreed before the Final report is 
issued, amendments to these dates must be agreed with 
Assurance, Risk and Audit. Agreed actions are monitored by the 
Senior Management Team and Audit Committee. In the instance 
that an engagement has not been conducted in line with the PSIAs, 
the areas of non-conformance will be reported as part of the final 
report.

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 30



Document is Restricted

Page 31

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



100.00% 2

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

0.00% 0

Q1 How would you rate your overall satisfaction with us?
Answered: 2 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 2

Good

 Satisfied

Dissatisfied

somewhat
dissatisfied

very
dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Good

 Satisfied

Dissatisfied

somewhat dissatisfied

very dissatisfied

1 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 49



Q2 Please rate our Assurance risk and Audit officer on the following
attributes

Answered: 2 Skipped: 0

Provided
quality service

Was
understandin...

Approachable

Provided an
Independent...

2 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 50



0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

 
2

Very Poor Poor Fair Good Very Good

Communicated
effectively

Professionalism

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 VERY POOR POOR FAIR GOOD VERY GOOD TOTAL

Provided quality service

Was understanding of your challenges and demands

Approachable

Provided an Independent service

Communicated effectively

Professionalism

3 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 51



Q3 How would you rate the below aspects of the audit?
Answered: 2 Skipped: 0

Notice period
given ahead ...

The scope and
objectives o...

Audit ran to
schedule wit...

The draft
report...

4 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 52



0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

 
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

100.00%
2

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

 
2

5 4 Good Satisfactory Poor

The final
report was...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 5 4 GOOD SATISFACTORY POOR TOTAL

Notice period given ahead of the audit (the brief issued to heads of
service)

The scope and objectives of the audit reflected the areas you
wished to be reviewed

Audit ran to schedule with minimal disruption

The draft report adequately addressed the key issues/risks to the
service

The final report was clear and concise

5 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 53



100.00% 2

0.00% 0

Q4 Do you feel the Audit has added value to your service?
Answered: 2 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 2

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

6 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 54



100.00% 2

0.00% 0

Q5 Do you agree or disagree that the Auditor was knowledgeable and
insightful when making recommendations and providing assurance

around key controls?
Answered: 2 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 2

Agree

Disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Agree

Disagree

7 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 55



Q6 We are continually looking for ways to improve the quality and
delivery of our service. What changes would most improve our service?

Answered: 1 Skipped: 1

8 / 8

Assurance Risk and Audit Service Survey

Page 56



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 26 November 2018

Council – 5 December 2018

Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 2018/19

The Reason for the Decision To inform members of the Council’s treasury 
management activities during the six month 
period ending 30th September 2018. This report 
also provides assurances that treasury 
management activities have been undertaken in 
accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy.

Recommendations That the contents of this report are noted.
Financial / Resource Implications None.  
Legal / Governance Implications The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the 
Council to report regularly on specific aspects of 
its treasury management activities. 

Community Safety Implications None. 
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.  

Equality Duty considered /Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected None directly
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

None directly

Is this a key decision? No
Portfolio Holder Cllr. B Cannon
Lead Officer Barry Lennox 

Financial Services Manager   
Ext: 2586 
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0     Introduction

1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Treasury 
Management Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code) requires the Council to report regularly on its 
treasury management activities. 

1.2 The Treasury Management Code recommends that local authorities should, as a 
minimum, ensure that the Full Council receives: 

• before the start of the year, an annual report on the strategy and plan to be 
pursued in the coming year (Council - 07/03/2018)

• a mid-year review (this report)
• after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the treasury 

management function, on the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-
compliance with the authority’s treasury management policy statement.

1.3 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices require treasury management reports - including the mid-
year report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to consideration by Full 
Council. 

2.0 Scope

2.1 This mid-year report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management 2017 Edition and covers:

i. an update on the economic environment for the first six months of the 
financial year 2018/19 (section 3)

ii. updated interest rate forecasts (section 4)
iii. Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 

Strategy update (section 5)
iv. a review of the Council’s investment  and borrowing activities during the 

period 1st April to 30th September 2018 (sections 6 and 7)
v. a review of compliance with the Council’s treasury and prudential indicators 

for 2018/19 (section 8).

Page 58



3.0 Economic Update 

U.K.

3.1 After posting GDP growth of 1.8% year-on-year in the third quarter of 2017, 
growth fell to 1.4% year-on-year in the fourth quarter of 2017; the weakest pace 
of expansion since the second quarter of 2012. Since then the first half of 2018 
has seen UK economic growth post more modest performance. Quarterly 
National Accounts show GDP grew by 0.1% in quarter 1 (Jan.to March) 
reflecting, at least in part, the temporary impact of adverse weather, before 
recovering to 0.4% in quarter 2 (April to June). The latest three month rolling 
estimates show growth of 0.6% (1.2 y/y) in the three months to July and 0.7% in 
three months to August 2018. Underlying this modest performance is continued 
subdued real consumer spending growth and the drag on business investment 
from the ongoing economic and political uncertainty associated with the outcome 
of the Brexit negotiations.

3.2 Despite this modest growth, this was deemed sufficiently robust for the Monetary 
Policy Committee, (MPC) to unanimously vote (9-0) to increase Bank Rate on 
2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%. Although growth looks as if it will only be 
modest at around 1.5% in 2018, the Bank of England’s August Quarterly Inflation 
Report forecast growth to pick up to 1.8% in 2019, albeit there were several 
caveats to this. These mainly related to whether or not the UK achieves an 
orderly withdrawal from the European Union in March 2019.

3.3 Some MPC members have expressed concerns about a build-up of inflationary 
pressures, particularly with the pound falling in value again against both the US 
dollar and the Euro. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has 
remained above the MPC’s 2% target throughout the period, pushed above 
target by external cost pressures resulting from the effects of sterling’s past 
depreciation and higher energy prices. After remaining steady at 2.4% between 
April and June, CPI rose unexpectedly to 2.7% in August before falling back to 
2.4% in September. The increase in August was in part, due to higher energy 
and utilities prices, but price rises for some volatile items also pushed up the core 
rate. RPI inflation fell marginally from 3.4% in April to 3.3% in September.

3.4 CPI Inflation is expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two to 
three years given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate. The MPC has 
indicated the Bank Rate would need to be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 
for inflation to stay on track. Financial markets are currently pricing in the next 
increase in Bank Rate for the second half of 2019.

3.5 The labour market has remained resilient with the number and proportion of 
people in work remaining close to record levels. This is despite some predictions 
that unemployment would rise following the Brexit vote. The employment rate 
(the proportion of people aged from 16 to 64 years who were in work) for the 
period June to August 2018 was 75.5%, lower than for March to May 2018 
(75.7%) but higher than for a year earlier (75.1%). Whilst employment growth has 
softened in recent months amid dwindling levels of spare capacity in the labour 
market, various measured of hiring intentions and surveys of employment growth 
suggest that firms’ demand for workers will remain robust in the short-term.

Page 59



3.6 Unemployment meanwhile has continued at a 43 year low of 4% on the 
Independent Labour Organisation measure. A combination of job vacancies 
hitting an all-time high in July, coupled with negligible growth in total employment 
numbers, indicates that employers are now having major difficulties filling job 
vacancies with suitable staff and putting upward pressure on wage growth.  

3.7 Reflecting the tightening in the labour market, headline annual wage growth, 
(three-month average excluding bonuses) picked up to 2.9% in the three months 
to July. On the single-month measure the figure was 3.1%, the quickest pace 
since July 2015 and much faster than the 2.5% average for the first half of 2018. 
Surveys of pay settlements and recruitment difficulties point to earnings growth 
picking up further towards the end of the year.

3.8 In the three months to August 2018 wage inflation picked up to 3.1%, (3 month 
average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. 
wage rates less CPI inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 0.7%, the 
highest level since 2009. Given the UK economy is very much services sector 
driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into 
providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming 
months. This tends to confirm that the MPC were right to start on a cautious 
increase in Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of 3% as 
increasing inflationary pressures within the UK economy.  However, the MPC will 
need to tread cautiously before increasing Bank Rate again, especially given the 
uncertainties around Brexit.  

3.9 In the political arena, there is a risk that the current Conservative minority 
government may be unable to muster a majority in the Commons over Brexit.  
The view held by the Council’s treasury advisors is that the government will 
endure, despite various setbacks, along the route to Brexit in March 2019.  If 
however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this could result 
in a potential loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to longer dated 
gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and concerns around 
inflation picking up.
U.S.

3.10 In the US, a massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in 
consumption which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth. Growth 
rose from 2.2% (annualised rate), in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5% 
(3.0%y/y) in quarter 3. It has however also contributed to an upturn in inflationary 
pressures. With inflation moving towards 3%, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) 
increased rates by a further 0.25% in September to between 2.00% and 2.25%, 
the fourth increases in 2018. The Federal Reserve also indicated that it expected 
to increase rates four more times by the end of 2019. The dilemma, however, is 
what to do when the temporary boost to consumption wanes, particularly as the 
recent imposition of tariffs on a number of countries’ exports to the US (China in 
particular), could see a switch to US production of some of those goods, but at 
higher prices.  Such a scenario would invariably make any easing of monetary 
policy harder for the Fed in the second half of 2019.

3.11 However, a combination of an expected four increases in rates of 0.25% by the 
end of 2019, together with a waning of the boost to economic growth from the 

Page 60



fiscal stimulus in 2018, could combine to depress growth below its potential rate, 
i.e. monetary policy may prove to be too aggressive and lead to a reverse of 
policy. 

3.12 The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat during 
2018. Although it is not expected that the current level of actual action would 
have much in the way of a significant effect on US or world growth, there is a risk 
of escalation.

Eurozone

3.12 Growth was unchanged at 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 of 2018 but fell back to 0.2% 
in quarter 3, though this is probably a temporary dip. Growth has therefore 
undershot early forecasts for a stronger economic performance in 2018. In 
particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could be negatively 
impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of manufacturing exports e.g. cars.   
For that reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of 2% for 
2018, the horizon is less clear than it seemed just a short while ago. 

3.13 The ECB left its guidance that interest rates are unlikely to rise until Q3 2019 
more or less unchanged at its most recent meeting. However, the ECB confirmed 
that monthly asset purchases would be cut from €30bn to €15bn from October to 
December, as indicated, and then come to an end in December. Inflationary 
pressures are starting to build gently so it is expected that the ECB will start to 
increase rates towards the end of 2019.

Asia

3.14 Chinese economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. 
Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and 
the stock of unsold property and address the level of non-performing loans in the 
banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the rate of 
credit creation, particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding 
through into lower economic growth. However concerns remain over whether 
official economic statistics are inflating the published rate of growth.

3.15 Japan is struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also 
making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. It is likely that 
loose monetary policy will endure for some years yet to try to stimulate growth 
and modest inflation.

Emerging countries. 

3.16 Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds and are facing 
challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of 
foreign exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall 
world economy (around 1% each), so the fallout from the expected recessions in 
these countries will be minimal.

Page 61



4.0 Interest Rate Forecasts

4.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast. 

Table 1: Forecast interest rates (certainty rates1)
Quarter 
ending

Bank 
rate

PWLB 5yr 
rate

PWLB 10yr 
rate

PWLB 25yr 
rate

PWLB 50yr 
rate

% % % % %
Actual Sept 18 0.75 1.93 2.33 2.74 2.56

Dec-18 0.75 2.00 2.50 2.90 2.70
Mar-19 0.75 2.10 2.50 3.00 2.80
Jun-19 0.75 2.20 2.60 3.10 2.90
Sep-19 1.00 2.20 2.70 3.10 2.90
Dec-19 1.00 2.30 2.70 3.20 3.00
Mar-20 1.00 2.30 2.80 3.20 3.10
Jun-20 1.25 2.40 2.90 3.30 3.10
Sep-20 1.25 2.50 2.90 3.40 3.20
Dec-20 1.50 2.50 3.00 3.50 3.30
Mar-21 1.50 2.60 3.10 3.50 3.30

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty 
rates apply to authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their plans for long-
term borrowing and associated capital spending.

4.2 Link Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 7 
August following the quarterly Bank of England Inflation Report and the decisions 
and forward guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at 
its meeting on 2nd August.  

4.3  Following the flow of generally positive economic statistics since the end of the 
quarter ended 30th June, the Monetary Policy Committee took the decision on 2 
August to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial 
crash, to 0.75%.  However, the MPC emphasised again, that future Bank Rate 
increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium rate 
(where monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary), than before 
the crash; indeed they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time but 
declined to give a medium term forecast. At its August meeting, the MPC also 
voted unanimously to maintain the stock of sterling non-financial investment-
grade corporate bond purchased and UK government bond purchases, financed 
by the issuance of central bank reserves.

4.4 The current expectation is that the MPC will not increase Bank Rate in February 
2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. It is also considered more likely 
to wait until August 2019, than May 2019, before the next increase, to be 
followed by further increases of 0.25% in May and November 2020 to reach 
1.5%. However, the cautious pace of even these limited increases is dependent 
on a reasonably orderly Brexit.

4.5 The forecasts set out in the preceding table are predicated on an assumption 
that sufficient progress is made, in respect of negotiations, to produce a 

Page 62



reasonable agreement for Brexit that benefits both the EU and the UK in a 
sensible manner. If no agreement is reached at all, then the forecasts for 
increases in Bank rate and PWLB rates will be subject to greater change, 
most likely downwards.

4.6 Financial markets are currently expecting the next increase in Bank Rate to 
be in February 2019 and then only one more in February 2020, therefore 
ending March 2021 at only 1.25%.  However, the MPC have commented that 
the markets were too cautious with their view of the pace of increases.

4.7 Whilst geo-political events, sovereign debt issues and emerging market 
developments can all contribute to short-term volatility in financial markets, the 
overall longer run trend for gilt yields - and therefore PWLB rates - continues to 
be for rates to rise, albeit gently, over the forecast period. Aside from some minor 
advances in the pace of increase change, the expectations for future borrowing 
rates differ little from that set out in the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

4.8 At the present time, the overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is 
probably neutral.  However, economic forecasting remains difficult with so many 
external influences weighing on the UK. The interest rate forecasts set out in 
table1 (and also MPC decisions) will therefore be liable to further amendment 
depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets 
transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, 
could also have a major impact. 

4.9 The PWLB (certainty) rate forecasts included in table 1 are based around a 
balance of risks. Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates currently include: 

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next three 
years (to raise the Bank Rate) causing weaker UK economic growth and 
increases in inflation than currently anticipated 

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to 
its high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth and 
vulnerable banking system. In addition, the election in March, of a 
government which has made a lot of anti-austerity noise, is likely to lead 
to friction with the EU when setting the target for the fiscal deficit in the 
national budget. Unsurprisingly, investors have taken a dim view of this 
and so Italian bond yields have been rising.

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary forming a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU while Italy, this year, has also elected a 
strongly anti-immigration government. In the German general election of 
September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable 
minority position as a result of the rise of the anti-immigration AfD party.  
To compound this, the result of the Swedish general election in 
September 2018 has left an anti-immigration party potentially holding the 
balance of power in forming a coalition government. The challenges from 
these political developments could put considerable pressure on the 
cohesion of the EU and could spillover into impacting the euro, EU 
financial policy and financial markets. 

Page 63



 the imposition of trade tariffs by President Trump impacting adversely on  
world growth. President Trump’s specific actions against Turkey pose a 
particular risk to its economy which could, in turn, negatively impact 
Spanish and French banks which have significant exposures to loans to 
Turkey 

 weak capitalisation of some European banks
 rising interest rates in the US negatively impacting on emerging countries 

that have borrowed heavily in dollar denominated debt and causing an 
investor flight to safe havens e.g. UK gilts 

 geopolitical risks in Asia (especially North Korea), Europe and the Middle 
East, leading to increased safe haven flows. 

4.10 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include:

 the pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate is too slow allowing 
inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, 
which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate 
faster than currently expected. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields. 

 President Trump’s fiscal plans to stimulate economic expansion 
triggering a significant increase in inflation in the US and causing further 
sell offs of government bonds in major western countries

 the pace and strength of increases in the Federal Funds Rate and 
reversal of Quantitative Easing, causing a fundamental reassessment by 
investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities,  
leading to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in 
bond yields in the US, which could then spillover into impacting bond 
yields around the world

5.0 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy update

5.1 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Annual 
Investment Strategy for 2018/19, was approved by Full Council on 7th March 
2018. The Annual Investment Strategy establishes, as the Council’s primary 
policy objective, the security of principal sums invested in priority to liquidity and 
yield. The Council will then aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield will 
only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

Page 64



5.2 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on: 

 the counterparties with whom investments may be made based on an 
assessment of the creditworthiness of the counterparty 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 

the Council’s list of approved counterparties
 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 

financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty.  

5.3 During the six months to 30th September there have been no changes to the 
individual ratings of active investment counterparties. 

5.4 Economic developments and performance of financial markets during the period 
(including those affecting interest rate forecasts) do not require any changes to 
be made to the previously approved Treasury Management and Investment 
strategies. The Authority will therefore continue with its policy of investing in 
higher quality counterparties over relatively short maturities and postponing 
borrowing where possible, to minimise the cost of carry and counterparty risk.

6.0 Investment Activity

6.1 The investment market remains difficult in terms of earning the levels of interest 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 
current 0.75% Bank Rate. 

6.2 The 7-day rate remained broadly stable between April and July 2018 before 
increasing sharply in August, as a result of the increase in Bank Rate. Over the 
course of the first six months the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.59% 
(14/9/18) and a low of 0.35% (19/7/18). The average 7-day rate for the six 
months to September was 0.43%. This compares with an average of 0.11% for 
the corresponding period last year and an average for the financial year 2017/18 
of 0.22%.

6.3 Investment rates for terms of three months and longer, fell during April and May 
after expectations collapsed that the MPC would raise Bank Rate at its May 
meeting. Rates reached lows at the end of May before rising steadily over the 
remainder of the period.

Page 65



Bank and Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID) 

6.4. At 30th September 2018 the Council’s investment balances (excluding cash in 
hand and bank current accounts) stood at £13.2m. This compares with a balance 
of £7.1m at 31st March 2018 and £12.1m at 30th September 2017. 

6.5 A summary of investment activity during the six months ending 30th September 
2018 - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategies - is included in table 2 below. 

Table 2: Investment activity 1.4.18 to 30.9.18 
Investments 1 April 

2018 Made Repaid
30 Sept 

2018Credit 
Rating

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Specified investments
Call Accounts AA 822 12,398 (10,695) 2,525

Call Accounts A/A- 796 11,641 (11,588) 849

Money Market Funds AAA 5,515 30,050 (25,765) 9,800

Non specified investments
Equity Shares - 11 0 0 11
Total  7,144 54,089 (48,048) 13,185

6.6 The average level of funds invested during the period was £14.03m. This 
compares with an average of £12.07m over the corresponding period in 2017/18. 
These funds were available on a temporary basis with the level of funds available 
mainly dependent on the timing of cash flows associated with precept and 
business rate payments, income from grants and local taxation (council tax and 
business rates) and payments related to the Council’s Capital Programme.

Page 66



6.7 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19, all investments 
made during the period were: 

 restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call 
accounts) with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across 
all three of the main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
& Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns) 

 for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by 
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject 
to a maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

6.8 During the first six months of 2018/19, there were no breaches of the 
counterparty limits placed on the amount invested with any single institution or 
group of institutions on the Council’s list of approved counterparties. 

6.9 At 30th September forecast investment interest for the year to 31st March 2019 
was £32,775 against a budget of £19,980. The investment portfolio yield for the 
six months to 30th September was approximately 0.40%. This is broadly in line 
with the Council’s benchmark (7 day LIBID) rate which averaged 0.43% over the 
period April to September 2018. At 30th September the approximate rate of return 
(yield) on investments held (calculated on an annualised basis) was 0.61% (30th 

September 2017: 0.14%). This compares with the Council’s benchmark return (7-
day LIBID) rate at 30th September 2017 of 0.59% (30th September 2017: 
0.11%).

6.10 The forecast increase in interest receivable on investments in 2018/19, compared 
to budget, reflects the rise in investment rates since the budget was prepared. 
This increase in investment income has been reflected in the 2018/19 revised 
revenue budget by way of £12k virement to increase the investment income 
budget to a level consistent with current forecasts and address potential 
overspending against other budgets.

Page 67



7.0 Borrowing activities

7.1 No new borrowing was undertaken during the six months to 30th September 
2018. PWLB principal of £156k was repaid during the period.  A summary of 
borrowing transactions undertaken during the six months to 30th September 
2018 is set out in table 3 below.

7.2 By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and favourable cash flows the 
Council has been able to meet its liquidity requirements without the need to 
borrow externally. This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and 
reduce treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances. In the current 
economic climate - with low investment returns and relatively high counterparty 
risks - this is a prudent and cost effective approach, but will require ongoing 
monitoring in the event that upside risks to gilt yields prevail.

7.3 The Council’s 2018/19 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2018/19 of up to £5.4m to fund the 
Council’s capital programme. As a result of changes included in the Council’s 
revised 2018/19 capital programme, including the impact of the re-profiling of 
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated 
(maximum) external borrowing requirements in 2018/19 has been revised down 
marginally to £5.2m.

7.4 The decision to draw down loans will be determined in accordance with the 
borrowing strategy set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement with the timing and amount of any additional borrowing reflecting:

 current and future liquidity (cash flow) requirements including in 
particular, amounts required to fund the Council’s capital programme

 expected future movements in interest rates 
 management of treasury risk.

Table 3: Borrowing activity 1.4.18 to 30.9.18 

01 Apr 2018 New 
Borrowing

Borrowing 
Repaid 30 Sept 2018

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Long-term     
PWLB – fixed rates 15,380 0 (156) 15,224

Short-term     

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

 15,465 0 (156) 15,309

7.5 At 30th September 2018 the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed 
rate: 

 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (1st April 2018: £8.0m)
 fixed rate annuity loans totalling £1.664m (1st April  2018: £1.70m)
 equal instalment of principal loans of £5.560m (1st April 2018: 

£5.680m).
Page 68



Interest charged on borrowings

7.6 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio 
range from 2.44% to 9.5%. The weighted average interest rate on the PWLB loan 
portfolio currently stands at 5.44% (30th September 2017: 5.86%).This compares 
with the following PWLB rates applying to new maturity, annuity and equal 
instalment of principal (EIP) loans at 30th September 2018 (table 4).

Table 4:  PWLB new loan & premature repayment rates at 30th September 2018 
Certainty1 Premature repayment2

Term Annuity
%

Maturity 
%

EIP 
%

Annuity 
%

Maturity 
%

EIP  
%

Over 4½ Years not over 5 1.71 1.93 1.71 0.77 0.96 0.77

Over 9½ Years not over 10 1.96 2.33 1.96 1.02 1.38 1.01

Over 24½ Years not over 25 2.53 2.74 2.49 1.60 1.82 1.56

Over 49½ Years not over 50 2.72 2.56 2.74 1.80 1.64 1.82

1 Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from standard new loan rates. They apply to new loans 
taken out by authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their long-term borrowing and 
capital spending plans. 

2 Premature repayment rates apply to loans which are being repaid early. 

7.7 The maturity structure of external borrowing at 30th September 2018 (principal 
only) is shown in table 5.

Table 5: Maturity profile of external borrowing
At 30 Sept 

2018
At 30 June 

2018
At 31 March 

2018
At 30 Sept 

2017 
At 31 March 

2017
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Less than 1 year 401 401 398 315 312
Between 1 & 2yrs 323 323 320 236 233
Between 2 & 5yrs 1,018 1,016 1,005 753 742
Between 5 & 10yrs 1,906 1,900 1876 1447 1,419
Between 10 & 20yrs 2,901 2,915 2,986 2,268 2,346
Between 20 & 30yrs 760 880 880 560 640
Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 7,000
Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0 0 1,000

15,309 15,435 15,465 13,579 13,692

7.8 At 30th September 2018 the weighted average time to maturity of the Council’s 
PWLB debt portfolio was approximately 29 years. The weighted average life of 
the PWLB debt portfolio at 30th September 2018 was 25 years.

Page 69



7.9 At 30th September the full year forecast for interest payable on borrowings 
(adjusted to include the amortisation of deferred premia and discounts incurred in 
prior years) was £845k compared to an original budget of £989k. The difference 
of £144k reflects: 

 changes to the expected timing of capital expenditure (funded from 
borrowing) across financial years and the impact of these changes on the 
Authority’s external borrowing requirements and timing of borrowing

 revisions to interest rates to reflect the latest available forecasts

 lower interest cost applicable to borrowing undertaken in 2017/18 in 
comparison to that allowed for in the original budget.

7.10 The forecast reduction of interest costs has been accommodated in the 2018/19 
revised revenue budget by way of recurring and non-recurring savings 
adjustments.

7.11 The graph and table below shows that whilst PWLB rates were on a rising trend 
during the latter half of the second quarter there has been little consistent trend in 
rates during the current financial year to date. 

7.12 At 30th September the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at 
2.56%, up from 2.27% at the beginning of the financial year, while the 25-year 
rate ended the quarter at 2.64% compared to 2.55% at 3rd April 2018. This 
compares with forecasts included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities of 
2.8% and 3.0%.

PWLB Maturity Certainty Rates 2018-2019

Page 70



Table 6: PWLB certainty rates - 6 months ending 30th September 2018
1-Years

%
4½- 5 Years

%
9½-10 Years

%
24½- 25 Years

%
49½ - 50 Years

%
At 31.3.18 1.47 1.85 2.23 2.57 2.29
At 3.4.17 1.48 1.84 2.22 2.55 2.27
Low 1.28 1.67 2.09 2.50 2.25
High 1.57 1.99 2.43 2.83 2.64
At 30. 9.18 1.55 1.93 2.33 2.74 2.56
Average 1.46 1.84 2.25 2.64 2.41

Debt Rescheduling

7.13 The historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio and the exclusive use of 
fixed rate loans mean that rates of interest applying to these loans are 
significantly higher than those currently applied to new PWLB loans. However, 
the differential between new borrowing rates (certainty rate) and the PWLB’s 
premature redemption rates makes rescheduling unviable at the present time. As 
a consequence, no debt rescheduling was undertaken during the 6 month period 
ending 30th September 2018.

7.14 At 30th September 2018 the redemption value of the Council’s PWLB debt - 
calculated using PWLB premature redemption rates - was £28.1m. This 
compares with a redemption value of £29.61m at 31st March 2018 and £26.8m at 
30th September 2017. 

7.15 The difference of £12.9m between the fair value and the principal outstanding of 
£15.2m (see table 3) reflects the premium that would be payable - as at 30th 
September - in order to repay the outstanding principal prematurely of £12.7m 
plus interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.2m. 

8.0 Prudential Indicators 

8.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans 
and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council 
must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised limit for external debt’) is set 
out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities to which the 
Council is required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act.

8.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of 
other key treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council 
operates its treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year 

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) - the underlying need to borrow for 
capital purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for current and the following two financial years

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings

Page 71



 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested longer than 
365 days.

8.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under 
the Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required 
by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 
2018/19.

8.4 During the financial year to date, the Council has operated within the treasury 
and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury Management Practices.  
The Council’s Prudential and Treasury Indicators are shown in Appendix 2.

8.5 At 30th September the Council’s gross external debt was £15.3m. The maximum 
external debt outstanding during the period was £15.5m (1st April 2018).This 
compares with: 

 a Capital Financing Requirement (the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes) at 1st April 2018 of £18.9m and a forecast 
CFR at 31st March 2019 of £23.7m (based on the revised capital 
budget for 2018/19)

 an Operational Boundary (representing the Council’s expected 
maximum external debt based on probable events) of £26m, and 

 an Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing) of 
£28m. 

8.6 At 30th September 2018, the difference between the Operational Boundary 
(£26m) and the actual amount of external debt outstanding (£15.3m) is £10.7m. 
The key components of this difference are: 

 current under borrowing (at 30th September 2018) against the 
Council’s CFR of approximately £3.4m 

 borrowing of up to £7.4m (including £1.9m deferred from 2017/18) 
included in the Operational Boundary to accommodate the additional 
borrowing requirements in relation to the Council’s (original) capital 
expenditure plans for 2018/19.

8.7 As noted above, no additional borrowing has been undertaken during the first six 
months of 2018/19. By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and 
favourable cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up 
to the level of the CFR. In turn, this has allowed the Council to minimise 
borrowing costs and reduce overall treasury risk by reducing the level of its 
external investment balances.

8.8 The Council does not anticipate the need for any revisions to be made to the 
existing approved Operational Boundary or Authorised Borrowing Limit during the 
remainder of 2018/19.

Page 72



Appendix 1

Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)

 Average 1 April 
to 28 Sept 2018

At 28 Sept     
2018

At 30 June     
2018

At 1 April 
2018

 %  %  % %
Bank Rate 0.58 0.75 0.5 0.5

7 days’ notice 0.43 0.59 0.36 0.36

1 month fixed 0.47 0.60 0.38 0.39

3 months fixed 0.61 0.67 0.55 0.59

6 months fixed 0.71 0.78 0.66 0.70

1 year fixed 0.87 0.94 0.84 0.88

Money market investment rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)
 Bank Rate 7 day 1 month 3 months 6 months 1 year

High 0.75 0.59 0.6 0.68 0.78 0.94

Low 0.5 0.35 0.37 0.48 0.59 0.75

Average 0.58 0.43 0.47 0.61 0.71 0.87

Spread 0.25 0.24 0.23 0.21 0.19 0.19

High date 2/8/18 14/9/18 18/9/18 6/8/18 3/8/18 21/9/18

Low date 1/4/18 19/7/18 30/5/18 30/5/18 30/5/18 30/5/18

Page 73



Appendix 2
Prudential and treasury indicators

1 Indicators required by the Prudential Code 

1.1 The Prudential Code requires authorities to self-regulate the affordability, 
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans by 
setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential 
indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices 
are in accordance with good practice. 

1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, Treasury 
Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to support 
and record local decision making. They are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose. 

1.3 Details of the Council’s approved prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 
are summarised in the following sections together with:

 forecast outturn information for the year to 31st March 2019 based on 
outturn projections included in the Council’s Quarterly Finance Report to 
September 2018 

 updated estimates based on the proposed 2018/19 revised revenue 
and capital budgets 

 actuals at 30th September 2018.

2 Actual capital expenditure

2.1 Table A summarises the Council’s original and revised capital expenditure plans 
for 2018/19 and the actual capital expenditure incurred to 30th September 2018. 

Table A: Capital expenditure 2018/19
2018/19 

Approved
2018/19

Actual to 
30.9.18

2018/19
Forecast 

Outturn (Q2)

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget2 

£000 £000 £000 £000
General Fund Capital Expenditure 14,593 2,107 5,664 8,970
Financed by:
Capital receipts 0 97 177 177
Capital grants & contributions 9,043 1,282 2,872 2,872
Revenue (GF & Earmarked Reserves) 20 279 473 473
Total expenditure financed in year 9,063 1,658 3,522 3,522
Unfinanced capital expenditure: 
Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0
Unsupported borrowing 5,530 449 2,142 5,448
Total financed & unfinanced 14,593 2,107 5,664 8,970

1 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations 
since 2010/11.
2 Updated to reflect carry forward of budgets from 2017/18, re-profiling adjustments and capital 
bids included in the (proposed) revised capital budget 2018/19. 

Page 74



2.2 Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 
and includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of 
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 
2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 
16(2) of the 2003 Act. 

2.3 The approved prudential indicator for capital expenditure of £14,593k reflects the 
capital budget approved by Full Council on 7th March 2018. The decrease of 
£5,623k between this and the revised indicator (£8,970k) - based on the 
proposed revised capital budget for 2018/19 - reflects: 

 approved capital budget carry forwards from 2017/18 of £2,786k

 additional capital bids included in the revised three year capital budget 
(2018/19 to 2020/21) of £(711)k, including net savings bids of £(1,366)k 
applicable to 2018/19

 reprofiling of approved budgets between financial years £(7,043)k.

2.4 At the end of September 2018 capital expenditure to date stood at £2,107k 
compared to a current budget - inclusive of budget carry forwards and other 
adjustments agreed as part of the 2017/18 capital outturn report - of £17,379k. A 
total of £3,556k is currently forecast to be spent against this budget during the 
period October 2018 to March 2019 with a further £3,043k forecast to be carried 
forward to 2019/20. The forecast carry forward of £3,043k and net outturn 
variance of £8,673k is reflected in the budget adjustments included in the revised 
2018/19 capital budget. 

2.5 The impact of the 2018/19 revised budget proposals on the capital expenditure 
indicator for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 is summarised below. Further details 
of the changes made to Authority’s capital expenditure plans are set out in the 
Quarter 2 Finance Report and Revised Budget 2018/19, presented to the 
Council’s Executive on 21st November 2018.

Table B: Capital expenditure – proposed revised budget 2017/18 -2019/20
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Indicator approved in TMSS 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
2017/18 budget carried forward 2,786 0 0 2,786
Original Budget 17,379 2,340 2,040 21,759
Re-profiling adjustments (3,043) 3,043 0 0

Reallocations & Re-profiling (net) (4,000) 4,000 0 0
Capital Growth & Savings (net) (1,366) 655 0 (711)
Revised Budget 8,970 10,038 2,040 21,048

3 Actual Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of 

Page 75



capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants, 
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). The CFR also includes 
items of capital expenditure included in an authority’s balance sheet associated 
with other long term liabilities, such as assets held on finance leases, but 
excluding the underlying liability. The CFR does not necessarily correspond with 
an authority’s actual borrowing position which is determined in accordance with 
an authority’s treasury management strategy and practices. 

3.2 Capital expenditure not financed up-front through the application of capital 
grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will increase 
the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue provision or 
a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will reduce the CFR.  

Table C: Capital financing requirement
2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Approved 
Estimate

2018/19 
Actual to 
30.9.18

2018/19 
Forecast 
Outturn 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
CFR at 1 April 18,674 20,643 18,917 18,917 18,917

CFR at 31 March 18,917 25,460 18,695 20,338 23,694
Movement in CFR 243 4,817 (222) 1,421 4,777
Movement represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure 866 5,530 449 2,142 5,448

Less MRP (623) (713) (671) (671) (671)

Less Voluntary set aside 0 0 0 0 0

Movement in CFR 243 4,817 (222) 1,471 4,777

3.3 The key variable in the calculation of the CFR at 31st March 2019 is the level of 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred during 2018/19. The amount of 
unfinanced capital expenditure included in the revised 2018/19 capital budget is 
£5,448k. This includes:

 £3,171k relating to expenditure on refuse collection vehicles  
 £867k in respect of the purchase of land at Lillyhall Industrial Park, 

and Reedlands Road industrial development
 £277k relating to strategic acquisitions. 

4 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

4.1 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence 
is that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose.  To ensure 
this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short-term, exceed 
the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next 
two financial years. 

4.2 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross 
debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit 
arrangements). Table D compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR. Page 76



Table D: Gross debt & the CFR

31.3.18
Actual

Actual at 
30.9.18

2018/19 
Forecast 
Outturn1

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget1

2018/19 
Estimate 

(max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
PWLB 15,380 15,224 15,067 15,067 20,259
Other borrowing 85 85 85 85 85
Total debt 15,465 15,309 15,152 15,152 20,344
CFR at 1 April 18,674 18,917 18,917 18,917 18,917
Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure 866 449 2,142 5,448 5,448
Less: MRP (623) (671) (671) (671) (671)
CFR at 31 March 18,917 18,695 20,388 23,694 23,694
(Under)/Over borrowing (3,452) (3,386) (5,236) (8,542) (3,350)

1 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio at 30.9.18

4.3 At 31st March 2018, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing 
requirement by £3.45m and at 30th September 2018 by £3.39m. The decrease in 
the level of underborrowing during the six months to 30th September is £66k and 
is represented by:

 a net decrease in the CFR of £222k generated from unfinanced 
capital expediture incurred during the period less amounts set aside 
from revenue to finance capital expenditure 

 repayments of borrowing of £156k.

4.4 Based on the current forecast movement in the CFR outlined in section 3 above 
and the maturity profile of the Council’s existing loan portfolio, the forecast 
outturn (at 31st March 2019) is for the Council to be underborrowed by £8.54m.
Any additional borrowing undertaken during the period 1st October 2018 to 31st 
March 2019 will result in a commensurate reduction in the forecast under 
borrowing postion at 31st March 2019. Additional borrowing of £5.2m in 2018/19 
would reduce the forecasted level of underborrowing at the end of the financial 
year to £3.35m. 

5. Authorised limit for external debt 

5.1 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). 
It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding 
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-
term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable 
Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2003.

5.2 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements, pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The 
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen 
cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and 

Page 77



other long-term liabilities. No change is required to the Authorised Limit for 
2018/19.

Table E: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2017/18 

Limit 
2017/18

Actual debt 
(max)

2018/19 
Limit 

30.9.18 
Actual 
debt

2018/19
Actual debt 

(max)1 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowing 25,000 15,465 28,000 15,309 20,344
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total 25,000 15,465 28,000 15,309 20,344

1 inclusive of additional borrowing of up to £5.19m

6 Operational boundary for external debt

6.1 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the most 
likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum 
level of external debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary 
links directly to the Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the 
capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all 
purposes but without the additional headroom included within the Authorised 
Limit. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.

Table F: Operational boundary for external debt
2017/18 

Limit 
2017/18

Actual debt 
(max)

2018/19 
Limit 

30.9.18 
Actual 
debt

2018/19
Actual debt 

(max) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowing 23,000 15,465 26,000 15,309 20,344
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
Total 23,000 15,465 26,000 15,309 20,344

6.2 Provided the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a year is 
unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to make 
changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be reported to the 
next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council. No change is required to 
the Operational Boundary for 2018/19.

Page 78



7 Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

7.1 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and 
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income). 

Table G: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

2016/17 Actual 2017/18 Actual 2018/19 Estimate
2018/19

Forecast/revised 
estimate 

% % % %
Ratio 7.4 9.0 11.9 10.5

7.2 Financing costs comprise the aggregate of:
 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing
 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities
 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 

the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers  
 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments 

falling out with the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies)

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives
 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions
 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 

met from government grants and local taxpayers.

7.3 Estimates for the net revenue stream are taken from the Council’s estimates of 
the amounts to be met from government grants and local taxpayers, using the 
equivalent figures from the Council’s original and revised budgets. Actual 
figures for the Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-
specific grant income and expenditure’. 

8.0 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 

8.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and 
accompanying sector guidance. These are:

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing
 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days.

8.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing 
risks.  

Page 79



9 Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

9.1 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates.

9.2 It is calculated as the amount borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage 
of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the 
earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Table H: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period
At 31.3.18 

Actual
Lower limit 

2018/19 
Upper limit 

2018/19 
At 30.9.18

Actual
Forecast
31.3.191 

% % % % %
Under 12 months 2.23 0 20 2.62 2.67
12 months to 2 years 2.08 0 20 2.11 2.16
2 years to 5 years 6.52 0 20 6.65 6.81
5 years to 10 years 12.17 0 30 12.45 12.76
10 years to 20 years 19.38 0 40 18.95 18.58
20 years to 30 years 5.71 0 40 4.96 4.22
30 years to 40 years 51.91 0 80 52.26 52.80
40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 0

1Forecast based on the maturity profile of the existing loan portfolio at 30.9.18 

9.3 There is currently a maturity peak between June 2056 and June 2057, with 
maturity loans of £6m scheduled to be repaid during this period. This is not 
however considered a significant risk as ample rescheduling opportunities are 
anticipated before the maturity date of these loans. 

9.4 The expected impact of additional borrowing on the maturity profile shown in 
table I is shown below. This demonstrates that no revisions are required to 
existing limits to accommodate the additional borrowing.

Table I: Forecast fixed rate maturity profile including additional planned borrowing
Forecast
31.3.19

Lower limit 
2018/19 

Upper limit 
2018/19  

% % %
Under 12 months 4.38 0 20
12 months to 2 years 4.00 0 20
2 years to 5 years 12.23 0 20
5 years to 10 years 17.55 0 30
10 years to 20 years 16.87 0 40
20 years to 30 years 4.40 0 40
30 years to 40 years 40.03 0 80
40 years to 45 years 0.18 0 80
45 years to 50 years 0.36 0 80

Page 80



10 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 
365 days

10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the 
maturing of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums 
invested for periods longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to 
the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its having to seek early 
repayment or redemption of principal sums invested.

Table J: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days
2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Limit

At 30.9.18 
Actual 

Forecast
31.3.191 

£000 £000 £000 £000
Principal sums invested > 365 days1 11 20 11 11

1 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 30th 
September is £1k 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Allerdale Borough Council

Year ending 31 March 2019

November 2018

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 8



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at November 2018 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 6

2

P
age 84



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report on progress in 

delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a 

local authority.

Members of the Audit Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a section dedicated 

to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications www.grant-thornton.co.uk .

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

John Farrar

Engagement Lead

T 0161 234 6384

E John.Farrar@uk.gt.com

Angela Pieri

Engagement Manager

T 0141 223 0887

E angela.l.pieri@uk.gt.com

P
age 85

http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/
mailto:John.Farrar@uk.gt.com
mailto:angela.l.pieri@uk.gt.com


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

2018/19 Audit

We have begun our planning processes for the 2018/19 

financial year audit. 

Our detailed work and audit visits will begin later in the 

year and we will discuss the timing of these visits with 

management. In the meantime we will:

• continue to hold regular discussions with 

management to inform our risk assessment for the 

2018/19 financial statements and value for money 

audits;

• review minutes and papers from key meetings; and

• continue to review relevant sector updates to ensure 

that we capture any emerging issues and consider 

these as part of audit plans.

Progress at November 2018

4

Other areas

Certification of claims and returns

We are required to certify the Council’s annual Housing 

Benefit Subsidy claim in accordance with procedures 

agreed with the Department for Work and Pensions. 

This certification work for the 2017/18 claim is 

substantially complete, and will be concluded by 30 

November 2018.

The results of the certification work will be reported to 

you in our certification letter at the Audit Committee on 

11 February 2019.

Meetings

We meet with Finance Officers throughout the course of 

our audit and continue to be in discussions with finance 

staff regarding emerging developments and to ensure 

the audit process is smooth and effective. 

Your new Engagement Manager is Angela Pieri.  

Further meetings will be scheduled with Finance Officers 

as part of our planning work.

2017/18 Audit

We have completed our audit of the Council's 

2017/18 financial statements. Our audit opinion, 

including our value for money conclusion and 

certificate of audit closure was issued on the 31 July 

2018. 

We issued:

• An unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial 

statements; and

• An unqualified value for money conclusion on the 

Council’s arrangements to secure economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.

We have issued all our deliverables for 2017/18 and 

have concluded our work on the 2017/18 financial 

year. Our Annual Audit Letter, summarising the 

outcomes of our audit was presented to the Audit 

Committee on 24 September 2018.

P
age 86



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2017/18 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Annual Grant Certification Letter

This letter reports any matters arising from our certification work carried out under the PSAA contract.

December 2018 Not yet due

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit Committee setting out our proposed 

approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018/19 financial statements. We will also report the 

findings of our initial value for money risk assessment.

February 2019 Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit within our Progress Report.

May 2019 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

P
age 87



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 

the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 

out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with audit committee members, as well as any accounting and 

regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 88



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

In good company: Latest trends in local authority 
trading companies

Our recent report looks at trends in LATC’s (Local 

Government Authority Trading Companies).These 

deliver a wide range of services across the country and 

range from wholly owned companies to joint ventures, all 

within the public and private sector. 

Outsourcing versus local authority trading companies

The rise of trading companies is, in part, due to the decline in popularity of 

outsourcing. The majority of outsourced contracts operate successfully, and continue 

to deliver significant savings. But recent high profile failures, problems with inflexible 

contracts and poor contract management mean that outsourcing has fallen out of 

favour. The days of large scale outsourcing of council services has gone. 

Advantages of local authority trading companies

• Authorities can keep direct control over their providers

• Opportunities for any profits to be returned to the council

• Provides suitable opportunity to change the local authority terms and conditions, 

particularly with regard to pensions, can also bring significant reductions in the 

cost base of the service

• Having a separate  company allows the authority to move away from the 

constraints of the councils decision making processes, becoming more agile and 

responsive to changes in demand or funding

• Wider powers to trade through the Localism act provide the company with the 

opportunity to win contracts elsewhere

Choosing the right company model

The most common company models adopted by councils are:

7

Wholly owned companies are common because they allow local authorities to retain the 

risk and reward. And governance is less complicated. Direct labour organisations such 

as Cormac and Oxford Direct Services have both transferred out in this way.

JVs have become increasingly popular as a means of leveraging growth. Pioneered by 

Norse, Corserv and Vertas organisations are developing the model. Alternatively, if 

there is a social motive rather than a profit one, the social enterprise model is the best 

option, as it can enable access to grant funding to drive growth.

Getting it right through effective governance

While there are pitfalls in establishing these companies, those that have got it right are: 

seizing the advantages of a more commercial mind-set, generating revenue, driving 

efficiencies and improving the quality of services. By developing effective governance 

they can be more flexible and grow business without micromanagement from the 

council.

LATC’s need to adapt for the future
• LATC’s must adapt to developments in the external environment

- These include possible changes to the public procurement rules after Brexit and 

new local authority structures. Also responding to an increasingly crowded and 

competitive market where there could me more mergers and insolvencies.

• Authorities need to be open to different ways of doing things, driving further 

developments of new trading companies. Relieving pressures on councils to find the 

most efficient ways of doing more with less in todays austere climate.

Overall, joint ventures can be a viable alternative delivery model for local authorities. 

Our research indicates that the numbers of joint ventures will continue to rise, and in 

particular we expect to see others follow examples of successful public-public 

partnerships.

Wholly 

owned

Joint 

Ventures

Social 

Enterprise

Download the report here

P
age 89

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-rise-of-local-authority-trading-companies/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 90


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Business Continuity Update
	6 Audit Committee Report Quarter Two 2018/19
	Appendix 1 for Audit Committee Report Quarter 2 201819 GR
	Appendix 2 for Audit Committee Report Quarter 2 201819 GR
	Appendix 3 for Audit Committee Report Quarter 2 2018/19 GR
	Appendix 4 for Audit Committee Report Quarter 2 2018/19 GR
	Q1 How would you rate your overall satisfaction with us?
	Q2 Please rate our Assurance risk and Audit€officer on the following attributes
	Q3 How would you rate the below aspects of the audit?
	Q4 Do you feel the Audit has added value to your service?
	Q5 Do you agree or disagree that the Auditor was knowledgeable and insightful when making recommendations and providing assurance around key controls?
	Q6 We are continually looking for ways to improve the quality€and delivery of our service. What changes would most improve our service?


	7 Treasury Management Operations - Mid-year review 2018/19
	8 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

